1997

Joseph R. and Florence Brunetti v. Gilbert R.  
Turner, Kenneth T. Holman and Overland  
Development Corp., : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

### **STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION**

This appeal arises from a civil action brought by Plaintiffs for the recovery of earnest money related to the attempted joint venture and sale of certain real property located in Salt Lake County, Utah.

Jurisdiction of the Third Judicial District Court, Salt Lake County, Utah from which this appeal arises, is based on UTAH CODE ANN. § 78-3-4(1) (1953, as amended).

Jurisdiction to hear this appeal is conferred upon the Utah Supreme Court pursuant to Article VIII, Section 5 of the Constitution of the State of Utah, UTAH CODE ANN. § 78-2-2(3)(j) (1995 Supp.) and Rule 3(a) of the Utah Rules of Appellate Procedure. This case was poured over to the Court of Appeals by the Supreme Court on May 15, 1997.

Partial summary judgment, from which Overland Development Corp. ("Overland") appeals was entered by the trial court on June 23, 1995 and the Order Denying Defendants' Motion to Reconsider the Order Granting Partial Summary Judgment was entered on October 17, 1996. A final judgment was entered on December 17, 1996, Appellant's Notice of Appeal was filed with the Third Judicial District Court, Salt Lake County, on January 2, 1997 and an Amended Notice of Appeal was filed on January 13, 1997.

### **STATEMENT OF ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW**

1. Was it error for the trial court to rule that Overland was obligated to pay the second \$15,000, even though it had never requested that the contract be extended and had in fact given notice to the Brunettis that it no longer wished to pursue the development of the Property under the terms of the contract?



2. Was it error for the trial court to rule that the first \$15,000 was due and payable in light of express language in the contract that such funds were only payable upon closing of a construction loan or if additional time was needed, when Overland never requested additional time and the construction loan related to the Property did not close, and when Plaintiffs refused to enter into the joint venture with Overland?

3. Was it error for the trial court to rule that the Brunettis did not breach the contract by refusing to enter into a joint venture with Overland?

4. Was it error for the trial court to rule that the contract is unambiguous?

5. Was it error for the trial court to rule that there was a meeting of the minds, and that there were no material issues of fact concerning the joint venture?

These issues have been preserved in the trial court record in Defendants' Memorandum in Opposition to Plaintiffs' Motion for Partial Summary Judgment (**Record (hereinafter "R.") 137-170**); Defendant's Memorandum of Points and Authorities in Support of Motion to Reconsider Entry of Partial Summary Judgment (**R. 562-599**); the April 11, 1995 and April 21, 1995 hearings on the Plaintiffs' Motion for Partial Summary Judgment (**R. 843-886**) and (**R. 887-927**); and the July 1, 1996 hearing on Defendants' Motion for Reconsideration (**R. 948-978**).

**Standard of Review:** The trial court granted partial summary judgment for the Plaintiffs on their breach of contract claim. Because entitlement to summary judgment, or not, is a question of law, the Utah Court Appeals accords no deference to the trial court's resolution of the legal issues presented. Higgins v. Salt Lake County, 855 P.2d 231, 235 (Utah 1993). This Court determines "only whether the trial court erred in applying the governing law and whether the trial court correctly

held that there were not disputed issues of material fact." State v. Ferre, 784 P.2d 149, 151 (Utah 1989). With regard to the issues involving interpretation of the contract, this court reviews the trial court's decision under a correctness standard giving the trial court's interpretation no particular weight. Kimball v. Campbell, 699 P.2d 714 (Utah 1985).

## **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

### **NATURE OF THE CASE AND COURSE OF PROCEEDINGS**

This lawsuit centered around the sale and joint venture of a piece of property located at approximately North Temple and Redwood Road in Salt Lake City, Utah owned by the Plaintiffs (the "Property"). The letter agreement between the parties was not on a commonly used form and referred to a somewhat unique arrangement between the parties under which the parties were to enter into a joint venture in order to save the developer cash, the seller was to be paid for the Property at the time the joint venture obtained a construction loan and no provision was made for an earnest money deposit becoming non-refundable unless or until there was a request to extend the period beyond the original period of the agreement. There are factual disputes as to the parties' intent with respect to whether there was a joint venture (with the sellers expressly stating that they never intended to enter into a joint venture), as to whether the parties agreed upon terms concerning the earnest money deposit, and as to what the essence of the transaction was. Despite numerous factual issues with respect to these matters, summary judgment was granted in favor of the Plaintiffs.

In 1989 or 1990, Plaintiffs listed the Property for sale with their agent, Gilbert Turner ("Turner"). Overland was interested in the Property and, on April 6, 1990, made an offer concerning the Property. Overland's offer included an agreement that the parties would joint venture

the development of the property. On April 26, 1990, Plaintiffs made a counteroffer to which Overland responded with its counteroffer on May 7, 1990. Also, on May 7, 1990, Overland delivered an earnest money check to Plaintiffs' agent, Turner, with written instructions that the check was not to be deposited pending written notification by Overland. Overland's counteroffer was accepted on May 9, 1990, completing the agreement between the parties (the "Agreement").

Overland spent a great deal of time and money attempting to get the proper zoning change necessary to develop the Property. However, due to the fact that Overland could not acquire proper zoning, Overland elected not to proceed with the development of the Property under the original terms of the Agreement. Therefore, on August 25, 1990, Overland proposed a different arrangement. This arrangement was not agreed to by Plaintiffs and, since the parties could not arrive at a subsequent agreement, the original Agreement terminated. Overland then requested return of the undeposited earnest money check, and Plaintiffs' agent, Turner, returned the earnest money to Overland.

Plaintiffs brought suit claiming that they were entitled to the earnest money based upon Defendants' alleged breach of Agreement. In the suit, Plaintiffs alleged causes of action against Overland and Holman, Overland's principal stockholder, for fraud, breach of contract, breach of the implied covenant of good faith, equitable estoppel and unjust enrichment. Prior to trial, Plaintiffs and Defendants Holman and Overland brought Motions for Summary Judgment. Based upon these Motions, and the oral argument addressing these Motions, on June 23, 1995, the Court entered partial summary judgment against Overland for breach of contract. In particular, the trial court found that the Agreement between the Plaintiffs and Overland, embodied in the April 6, 1990

Overland letter, as modified by the May 7, 1990 counteroffer, was clear and unambiguous, and required Overland to deliver to Plaintiffs the first \$15,000 earnest money on September 7, 1990, and the second \$15,000 on November 7, 1990. Further, the trial court found, on the basis of summary judgment motions, that Overland's letter of August 25, 1992 constituted a request for additional time to close on the purchase of the Property stimulating the payment of the second \$15,000 amount. The trial court found that Overland did not pay the required earnest money payments and that the Plaintiffs were therefore entitled to a judgment against Overland for \$30,000 plus interest from November 7, 1990, due to breach of contract. This is the ruling which Overland seeks to have this Court vacate.

At the same time, the trial court granted partial summary judgment in favor of Overland and Holman, dismissing Plaintiffs' claims for equitable estoppel and unjust enrichment and dismissed all other claims against Holman with the exception of a fraud claim, which remained for trial, as did a fraud claim and a breach of the covenant of good faith and fair dealing against Overland. This case was then tried beginning on August 23, 1995 and, after being continued, ending on November 17, 1995. After full presentation of all the evidence, the trial court, granted a Motion to Dismiss by Overland, Holman and Turner finding that none of the Defendants had made a misrepresentation to Plaintiffs, defrauded Plaintiffs or breached the covenant of good faith or fair dealing. The trial court specifically found that Turner was Plaintiffs' agent and that Turner had acted in Plaintiffs' best interest.

The trial court's entry of partial summary judgment against Overland should be reversed and the case remanded for a trial on the merits. In particular, there exist significant questions of material

fact with regard to whether there was ever a meeting of the minds between the parties on whether the Agreement calls for the earnest money to be forfeited and, if so, under what circumstance and when the earnest money would be forfeited, the terms of the joint venture agreement between the parties or whether the Plaintiffs ever intended to enter into that joint venture, and how the earnest money related to the joint venture. Because of these questions of fact, there was not a meeting of the minds between the parties sufficient to establish a binding contract giving rise to forfeiture of the earnest money. Also, it is evident based upon the documents and testimony that Overland never requested an extension to the contract period. Thus, with respect to the second \$15,000, there can be no dispute that it never became due and payable. Overland therefore requests that this Court reverse the trial courts entry of Plaintiffs' Motion for Partial Summary Judgment and remand this matter for a short trial on whether there was ever an enforceable contract between the parties. Overland further requests that in remanding this matter this Court instruct the trial court enter partial summary judgment in Overland's favor, finding that Plaintiffs never became entitled to the second \$15,000.

#### **DISPOSITION OF TRIAL COURT**

The trial court granted Plaintiffs' Motion for Partial Summary Judgment ("Plaintiffs' Motion"), finding that Plaintiffs were entitled to both the original \$15,000 and the second \$15,000 based upon Plaintiffs' theory of breach of contract. It is from this ruling that Overland appeals.<sup>1</sup>

---

<sup>1</sup> Prior to the entry of the final judgment, Overland filed a Motion for Reconsideration of trial court's grant of Summary Judgment. This motion was denied, and a final judgment for Defendants on Plaintiffs' remaining claims was entered on December 17, 1996 after a trial on the merits.

### **STATEMENT OF FACTS**

1. Plaintiffs were the owners of a parcel of land at approximately North Temple and Redwood Road, consisting of approximately 5.33 acres (the "Property"). **R. 117.**

2. In late 1989 or early 1990, Plaintiffs entered into an agreement with Turner whereby Turner agreed to act as Plaintiffs' real estate agent to find a buyer for the Property. **R. 117 and 759.**

3. On April 6, 1990, Overland made an offer in writing regarding the Property. **R. 117;**  
**a true and correct copy of Overland's April 6, 1990 offer is set forth in the Addendum as Exhibit "A."**

4. Of particular importance are the terms of this offer, terms which were never deleted in the subsequent counteroffers. They are:

- a. A \$15,000 earnest money would be deposited in an independent trust account to be credited to the purchase price at the time of closing with the balance paid from the proceeds of the construction loan.
- b. Overland would then enter into a joint venture with the landowner, within two weeks, to develop the property.

\*\*\*

- c. The benefit of a joint venture relationship of this type is that it enables the developer to use its limited resources on the development of the property instead of the purchase of the land. This also reduces some of the risk to the developer and gives assurance that the project can be consummated before the expiration of the agreement.

*See, Exhibit A.* Thus, the time at which the earnest money became payable and the need for a joint venture between Plaintiffs and Overland were integral provisions of the offer. **R. 566-67, 587-88 and 609.**

5. In fact, without the joint venture agreement between the parties, Overland would not have agreed to purchase the Property. Further, Overland believed that the earnest money was not payable unless and until the Property closed or Overland requested an extension of time under the original agreement. Had this not been the case, Overland would not have agreed to purchase the Property. **R. 174 and 609.**

6. However, the Brunettis testified that they never agreed nor intended to enter into a joint venture with Overland. **R. 648-49 and 994-95.** At trial Mr. Brunetti stated:

Q. (By Paul Van Dam) Do you remember telling Mr. Turner that you would not enter into a joint venture agreement with Mr. Holman and his corporation?

A. (By Mr. Brunetti) Yes, sir.

Q. Do you remember when that was?

A. That was right at first. . . .

**R. 944-45.** In his deposition, Mr. Brunetti stated:

Q. (By Richard Rappaport) Did you ever tell Mr. Turner that you would not enter into a joint venture agreement with Overland Development?

A. (By Mr. Brunetti) Yes.

Q. When was that?

- A. I can't remember at this time. All I wanted was my money. I was not going to be in joint venture with them.

**May 12, 1993, deposition of Joseph Brunetti, page 89 lines 6-14; a true and correct copy of the relevant pages of Mr. Brunetti's May 12, 1993, deposition are attached hereto in the Addendum as Exhibit "B".** In her deposition, Mrs. Brunetti stated:

- Q. (By Richard Rappaport) Had you ever been willing to sign a joint venture agreement with Overland?

- A. (By Mrs. Brunetti) No.

**May 3, 1994, deposition of Florence Brunetti, page 19 lines 15-17; a true and correct copy of the relevant pages of Mrs. Brunetti's May 3, 1994 deposition attached hereto in the Addendum as Exhibit "C".** Plaintiffs simply believed that they were going to sell their land. **R. 649.** However nowhere within their April 26, 1990 counteroffer do they reject this portion of Overland's offer **R. 589; a true and correct copy of the Brunettis' April 26, 1990 counteroffer is attached hereto in the Addendum as Exhibit "D".**

7. Plaintiffs also testified that they believed that the first \$15,000 earnest money was payable regardless of whether the sale of the Property closed. **R. 120.** However, Overland believed that the first \$15,000 only became payable if there was a closing on the construction loan or Overland requested an extension of time past the initial 120 day period. **R. 174.** Therefore, there was no meeting of the minds with regard to financial terms of the contract.

8. After reviewing Overland's offer, on April 26, 1990, Plaintiffs submitted a counteroffer. In this counteroffer, besides adjusting the sales price, Plaintiffs stated:



The initial contract term shall be for 90 days. Should additional time be required, the developer agrees to release the original \$15,000 earnest money to seller and replace it with another \$15,000 non-refundable earnest money for an additional 60 days."

**R. 118, 139, 172 and 589; *see also*, Exhibit D.**

9. Importantly, Plaintiffs did not reject or counter with respect to the offer to enter into a joint venture or with regard to the time when the initial earnest money became payable, nor did the Agreement state that the earnest money was to be forfeited. ***See*, Exhibit D.**

10. In response to Plaintiffs' counteroffer, on May 7, 1990, Overland changed the term of the Agreement to 120 days rather than 90 days. **R. 172, 590 and 647; a true and correct copy of Overland's counteroffer to Plaintiffs' counteroffer is attached hereto in the Addendum as Exhibit "E".** No changes were made concerning the joint venture or the time in which the original earnest money became payable. Overland's counteroffer to Plaintiffs' counteroffer was accepted by the Plaintiffs as evidenced by their initials on the requested 120-day change. **R. 172, 568 and 590; *see also*, Exhibit E.**

11. With the counteroffer, on May 7, 1990, Overland delivered to Turner, Plaintiffs' agent, a check for \$15,000 as earnest money for the purchase and development of the Property. The check was never deposited. **R. 173 and 594.**

12. Thereafter, the parties attempted to get the Property rezoned to allow commercial development. **R. 173.**

13. However, by August 25, 1990, it became apparent that Salt Lake City was not willing to rezone the Property under the proposed plan. Therefore, on that date, Overland sent a letter to Plaintiffs. **R. 173.** That letter states:

On May 9, 1990, you and your wife, Florence, accepted an offer I made to purchase five (+ or -) acres located on North Temple near Redwood Road for \$895,000. The agreement gave me 120 days to complete the sale. If I needed additional time I would be required to release the original \$15,000 Earnest Money deposit to you and pay an additional \$15,000 non-refundable Earnest Money for an additional 60-day extension. September 6, 1990 will be the 120th day since our agreement was signed on May 9th.

The letter then addressed the problems the parties were experiencing with developing the Property.

It goes on to state:

With so many issues still unanswered, I do not intend to permit Mr. Turner to release my \$15,000 check until these issues are resolved and the property is rezoned. Otherwise, I could be left with a property that is improperly zoned for my purposes.

I would therefore request that our Agreement be extended for an additional 120 days for no additional Earnest Money deposit. If this is acceptable, I will authorize Mr. Turner to hold my deposit until rezoning has been approved at which time I will then authorize in writing its release to you.

\*\*\*

In my original letter to you dated April 6, 1990, I indicated that Overland Development Company would enter into a Joint Venture Agreement with you to develop the property . . . There is no need to enter into a Joint Venture Agreement until we have rezoned the property

and are preparing to get a construction loan on the hotel and/or restaurant/s. At that time it will be necessary to prepare the Joint Venture Agreement to obtain financing and pay you for the land.

\*\*\*

If you and Mrs. Brunetti agree to provide the extension requested and permit me to continue forward with the rezoning and construction financing as has been outlined above please sign the Acceptance below.

**R. 173 and 595-97; a true and correct copy of Overland's August 25, 1990 letter is attached hereto in the Addendum as Exhibit "F".**

14. This letter therefore notified Plaintiffs that Overland did not intend to follow through with the original deal and was suggesting a new deal. The August 25 letter also made it clear that new terms would need to be agreed to by the parties but would still included a joint venture between Plaintiffs and Overland. The Brunettis never signed the acceptance contained in this letter and no new agreement was reached. **R. 608.** In fact, on September 6, 1990, the Brunettis sent a letter to Overland which states in part: "So, we do not agree to the terms of Mr. Holman's August 25, 1990 letter." **R. 598.**

15. On September 6, 1990, Overland sent a letter to Plaintiffs making a new offer to purchase the Property as well as additional property for a total of approximately 11 acres. This letter states:

I have requested Mr. Gil Turner to prepare a new Earnest Money Sales Agreement purchasing the entire 11 +/- acres to supersede my original Offer to Purchase 5 +/- acres.

The termination of the original offer and the inclusion of additional acreage will enable us to get the entire parcel rezoned. It will also eliminate the necessity of requiring you to joint venture the development with me.

**R. 599; a true and correct copy of Overland's September 6, 1990 letter is attached hereto in the Addendum as Exhibit "G".**

16. September 6, 1990 was the date on which the original offer terminated or had to be extended through the release of the original \$15,000 deposit and the deposit of an additional non-refundable \$15,000 earnest money. This letter clearly shows that Overland is not seeking to extend the original offer and, by its terms, requests a new offer which includes additional acreage and does not include a joint venture agreement. Plaintiffs did not accept this proposal. **R. 608.**

17. The parties never entered into a new agreement and Overland's attempt to purchase the Property terminated. **R. 608.** Thereafter, Turner, Plaintiffs' agent, returned Overland's original \$15,000 check to Overland. **R. 174.**

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