1997

Joseph R. and Florence Brunetti v. Gilbert R.  
Turner, Kenneth T. Holman and Overland  
Developmental Corp., : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

Overland, of course, attempts to find contingencies in every nook and cranny of the agreement, but its arguments strain logic to the breaking point. An example of Overland’s wild and totally illogical arguments is found in Overland’s assertion that: “The Brunettis were to be involved in developing the Property to the extent they would contribute the land up front in exchange for a payment if a construction loan was obtained by Overland.” (**Overland’s Brief, p. 29**) Does Overland seriously expect this Court to believe that the Brunettis agreed to give Overland an interest in their property up front, but that Overland would not have to pay the Brunettis anything for that interest unless Overland was successful in obtaining a construction loan? This illogical construction would allow Overland to obtain an interest in the Brunettis’ property with the possibility of never having to pay the Brunettis anything for that interest. This argument is not only belied by the clear language of the agreement (i.e., that the joint venture was for appearance and misrepresentation-to-proposed-lenders purposes only, and that the

Brunettis would unconditionally be paid for their property at closing), but is ludicrous.

Nevertheless, Overland makes this argument, and the other disingenuous arguments in its brief, in support of its appeal.

After the trial, Judge Peuler was well within her rights as the trier of fact to compare Overland's protestations that there were contingencies with the language of not only the agreement, but also the August 25, 1990 Overland letter to the Brunettis, as well as the Brunettis' testimony as to what they understood the agreements to provide, and to resolve any factual issues in favor of the Brunettis' and her prior construction of the agreement. This she did, and she cannot be reversed unless this Court finds that her weighing of the facts, after trial in connection with the motion for reconsideration/summary judgment, was an abuse of discretion and/or that the facts at trial were insufficient to support her ruling such that it was clearly erroneous. Stewart v. State By and Through Deland, 830 P. 2d 306 (Utah App. 1992) The summary judgment, either as a matter of law, or after Judge Peuler heard the evidence and resolved the factual issues in the Brunettis' favor, was legally correct and not factually clearly erroneous and should be affirmed by this Court.

- b. Overland's "joint venture" arguments are without merit**
  - (i) The agreement is clear and unambiguous as to what was intended by the "joint venture"**

As indicated in the factual statement and summary of argument sections above, Overland's April 6, 1990 letter/offer (See **Exhibit A**) makes it clear, when one reviews the portions of the agreement that Overland failed to quote to this Court in the body of its brief, that the proposed "joint venture" was not to be a real joint venture because its purpose was to allow

Overland to misrepresent to lenders that it had an equity interest in the Brunettis' land, when in fact, pursuant to the "separate agreement" required by the agreement, Overland was unconditionally required to purchase and pay for the property at closing. This Court should consider sanctioning Overland and its counsel for the serious lack of candor displayed by its failure to quote in the body of its brief those portions of the agreement that make it crystal clear that the proposed "joint venture" was not intended to be a real joint venture, but rather a sham, or non-joint venture. Overland engaged in the same lack of candor in its memorandum in support of its motion for reconsideration/summary judgment. **R. 644-665**

**(ii) The August 25, 1990 letter from Holman to the Brunettis is clear and unambiguous as to what was intended by the "joint venture"**

The August 25, 1990 Overland letter to the Brunettis again assured the Brunettis that "[t]he purpose of this [joint venture] Agreement was not to get you involved in our development but merely as a way of permitting Overland to represent that it was also an owner of the property for ... financing the restaurant and hotel developments." See **Exhibit C**. The proposed "joint venture" was clearly not intended to be a real joint venture which "involved [the Brunettis] in [Overland's] development. Rather, it was "merely .. a way of permitting Overland to [mis]represent that it was also an owner of the property ... [to prospective lenders]."

**(iii) The August 25, 1990 letter is a clear admission that the Brunettis had not violated the "joint venture" provision of the agreement and that those provisions had as of that point in time been indefinitely waived by Overland**

The August 25, 1990 Overland letter continues on with respect to the proposed "joint

venture” stating: “At this stage you have signed a letter to the City indicating that I can represent you in getting the property rezoned. There is no need to enter into a Joint Venture Agreement until we have rezoned the property and are preparing to get a construction loan on the hotel and/or restaurant....” **(Exhibit C)** This is an unequivocal admission that the Brunettis had fulfilled their obligations with respect to the “joint venture” as of August 25, 1990, and that the Brunettis were not required to do anything further in that regard until after Overland rezoned the property. This latter part constitutes an indefinite waiver of the “joint venture” requirements of the agreement. In light of these admissions and this clear waiver, it is incredible that Overland has the temerity to continue to argue in this appeal that the Brunettis breached the “joint venture” requirements of the agreement.

Judge Peuler was correct originally when she rejected at summary judgment Overland’s then nascent argument that the “joint venture” portions of the agreement provided Overland with a possible excuse for failing to close on the purchase of the property and failing to pay either of the two \$15,000 nonrefundable earnest monies. But, after the trial, the evidentiary admission found in this August 25, 1990 letter is unquestionably sufficient to support Judge Peuler’s decision to affirm the granting of the prior summary judgment and to reject Overland’s feckless “joint venture”-related arguments.

- (iv) Even if the Brunettis had violated the “joint venture” provisions of the agreement, those provisions are illegal and unenforceable and cannot be interposed by Overland to defeat its obligations otherwise under the agreement**

Holman testified at trial at length about his extensive experience as a real estate developer. **R. 997, p. 305** Prior to proposing the transaction to the Brunettis in the April 6, 1990

letter/offer, Holman and Overland apparently became aware that lenders would not loan 100% of the monies necessary to purchase land and to build improvements thereon. Holman/Overland knew that lenders almost always required developers to demonstrate that they have “equity” in any proposed development project. This “equity” often takes the form of actual cash contributions toward the development of the project (sometimes required to be paid into escrow prior to closing, or to be demonstrated by bank deposits) to pay for the required portion (often 20% to 30%) of the total land purchase and construction costs. However a developer can often avoid demonstrating or paying additional cash (above and beyond the proposed loan proceeds) toward a project’s costs if the developer can show that it has already paid for or otherwise acquired (i.e. through a partner’s contribution of) the land for the proposed development. If a developer can make such a showing of equity/land contribution, the developer can claim that he is not seeking to use any portion of the construction loan proceeds to purchase the land for the development.

Holman and Overland testified that they had no cash to contribute to the project (they did not even have enough cash to pay the two \$15,000 nonrefundable earnest money deposits). **R. 337-368** So, to get around the lenders’ “equity” requirements, Holman and Overland asked the Brunettis to agree to make it look like the property had been “contributed” to the development by entering into a sham joint venture agreement. **(Exhibit A)** It was unquestionably a sham because there was going to be a separate, under-the-table, agreement requiring Overland to pay cash for the property at closing. But, Overland would be able to submit the phony joint venture agreement to the prospective lenders and falsely claim that Overland was not going to use any of the construction loan proceeds to purchase the land.



Not only would this constitute civil fraud upon any lending institution that agreed to loan monies to Overland based upon such falsehoods, but it would constitute theft under Utah's criminal code found at U.C.A. 76-6-401 et seq. (a second degree felony). Any written loan application which failed to disclose the secret agreement to pay the Brunettis in full at closing could constitute a "written false statement" under U.C.A. 76-8-504 (See copies of these code sections attached hereto as Exhibit E).

Since the proposed sham joint venture would be illegal if carried out, even if the Overland had not waived this requirement of the agreement in the August 25, 1990 letter, Overland is legally estopped from asserting the Brunettis' purported failure to go through with this illegal scheme as a defense to the Brunettis' contract claim. For this Court to hold otherwise would in effect reward Holman and Overland for their illegal and criminal activities and violate public policy.

The Brunettis made the foregoing argument to Judge Peuler after the trial in connection with Overland's motion for reconsideration/summary judgment. **R. 652-654.** Judge Peuler's affirmation of the summary judgment, and rejection of Overland's "joint venture" related challenges, was correct and not clearly erroneous and should be affirmed for these same reasons.

**2. The Agreement Required Overland to Pay the Two \$15,000 Nonrefundable Earnest Money Deposits to the Brunettis If Overland Did Not Purchase the Eastern Parcel Within the Specified Time Periods**

- a. Since the obligation to purchase the Eastern Parcel was unconditional, the words "needed" and "required" in the letter/offer and the Addendum/Counteroffer do not mean "request" or "desire", but are literal**

Once the conclusion is reached that the parties' agreement constituted an unconditional

agreement by Overland to purchase the Eastern Parcel, it becomes obvious that the words “needed” (in the April 6, 1990 letter/offer) and “required” (in the Addendum/Counteroffer) do not mean “request” as urged by Overland. “Request” would only make sense if Overland had the right to determine that it no longer wished to pursue the purchase of the Brunettis’ property. While the agreement would permit Overland to cease development efforts, it does not allow Overland to determine that it no longer desires to purchase the property with impunity.

Since the obligation to purchase the property was unconditional, the concept of “need[ing]” or “requir[ing]” more time to close on that purchase makes sense -- if for any reason Overland cannot or does not close on the purchase of the property within the first 120 days, such that it literally “needs” or “requires” more time to close, it must release the first \$15,000 nonrefundable earnest money deposit and deposit a second \$15,000 nonrefundable earnest money deposit in trust. If Overland does so, it will not at that point in time be in default under the agreement for failing to close on the purchase of the property.

- b. If Overland did not close on the purchase of the Eastern Parcel within the first 120 time period, regardless of the reason, such that it literally “needed” or “required” additional time to fulfil its obligations to close the purchase of the Eastern Parcel, the Agreement required Overland to release the first \$15,000 nonrefundable earnest money deposit, and place “an additional \$15,000 nonrefundable earnest money deposit in trust**

Overland argues that since it decided not to pursue the purchase of the Eastern Parcel from the Brunettis prior to the expiration of the initial 120-day time period to close, Overland somehow was no longer required to pay the first \$15,000 nonrefundable earnest money to the Brunettis, and was also not required to pay into trust the second \$15,000 nonrefundable earnest

money. This is illogical. Overland's argument suggests that if Overland breached its agreement to purchase the property through repudiation before the expiration of the first 120 days, somehow this breach relieves Overland of its remaining obligations under the agreement. This argument is contrary to the unambiguous language of the agreement which provides that if Overland is not able to close on the purchase of the property within 120 days, such that it literally needs additional time to fulfill its obligations to purchase the property, Overland must release the first \$15,000 nonrefundable earnest money deposit to the Brunettis, and must deposit the second \$15,000 nonrefundable earnest money deposit in trust.

Overland similarly cannot get out of these obligations simply by failing to "request" additional time to close. Nowhere in the agreement does it state that if Overland does not "request" additional time to close, it does not have to close on the property and does not have to pay the two nonrefundable earnest monies (though, as argued above and as found by Judge Peuler, Overland did communicate to the Brunettis its desire to continue the project and Overland did request more time to close. **(See the August 25, 1990 letter, Exhibit C)**

That the first \$15,000 earnest money was intended to be nonrefundable and payable to the Brunettis at the end of the initial 120 day time period to close is also found in the language of Overland's April 6, 1990 letter/offer (**Exhibit A**) when it refers to the second \$15,000 earnest money deposit as "an additional \$15,000 nonrefundable earnest money." The word "additional" modifies the entire phrase "\$15,000 nonrefundable earnest money," not just the "\$15,000" portion thereof. As such, the agreement makes it clear that the first \$15,000 earnest money was also to be nonrefundable and payable to the Brunettis without any conditions upon the expiration of the first 120 days if the purchase had not yet closed.

- c. If Overland still did not close on the purchase of the Eastern parcel within the remaining 60 day time period, the second \$15,000 nonrefundable earnest money was to be released to the Brunettis -- because it was “nonrefundable”**

Overland admits that it did not close on the purchase of the Eastern Parcel, and that it did not pay the Brunettis either of the two \$15,000 nonrefundable earnest monies. Overland attempts to excuse this failure by again arguing that unless Overland “requested” additional time to close the purchase, Overland was not required to deposit the second “15,000 nonrefundable earnest money.” For the reasons set forth in the previous section, this argument is without merit. Judge Peuler correctly found that if Overland did not close on the purchase of the property within the first 120 days, the obligation to release the first \$15,000 nonrefundable deposit to the Brunettis, and to deposit the second \$15,000 nonrefundable earnest money into trust, was triggered.

Since Overland did not close on the purchase of the property within the second 60 day time period, Overland was required to deliver the second \$15,000 nonrefundable earnest money to the Brunettis. The concept of “nonrefundable” with respect to this second \$15,000 earnest money deposit is not ambiguous. “Nonrefundable” means that if there is no closing, the funds are to be paid to the seller and not back to the buyer. Judge Peuler was correct when she determined that the second \$15,000 nonrefundable deposit became due and payable to the Brunettis at the expiration of the second 60 day time period, or on or before November 7, 1990, and the judgment in favor of the Brunettis for both the \$15,000 earnest monies which were not paid to them should be affirmed.

For the foregoing reasons, Overland’s appeal should be rejected and Judge Peuler’s granting of judgment to the Brunettis for the sum of the two \$15,000 nonrefundable earnest

monies should be affirmed.

## **II. The Brunettis' Cross-Appeal**

### **A. Under URCP, Rule 15(b), Judge Peuler Was Required to Allow An Amendment of the Pleadings to Include Issues Which Had Been Tried By Express or Implied Consent of the Parties**

URCP, Rule 15(b), relating to amendments to conform to the evidence, provides that:

“When issues not raised in the pleading are tried by express or implied consent of the parties, they shall be treated in all respects as if they had been raised in the pleadings. Such amendments of the pleadings as may be necessary to cause them to conform to the evidence and to raise these issues may be made upon motion of any party at any time, even after judgment.”

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